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Governance Institute of Australia 
is a national membership 
association, advocating 
for a community of 42,000 
governance and risk management 
professionals from the listed, 
unlisted and not-for profit 
sectors.

As the only Australian provider of chartered governance 
accreditation, we offer a range of short courses, certificates and 
postgraduate study. 

Our mission is to drive better governance in all organisations, 
which will in turn create a stronger, better society.

Our purpose — Strengthening society though governance 
excellence.

Our vision — Champion whole-of-organisation governance and risk 
management through education, advocacy and engagement with 
members and the broader community.
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2020 year in review
Building our profile Enhanced member value

speaking 
engagements 

Established Canberra 
Leadership Group 

Successfully lobbied 
for temporary 
exemptions  
for virtual  
AGMs 

Partnered with key 
stakeholders on timely 
COVID-19  
industry  
guidance

submissions  
to government  
and regulators 

recipients of 
News Update  

295  
media 
mentions 

Shortlisted for 
Association  
of the Year 

36

42,000

Advocacy

14
Education

61% female    39% male 

8,000+ 
strong 
membership 

400+  
attendees at virtual 
Governance and Risk 
Management Forum

195  
graduates from  
postgraduate courses 

town hall 
meetings 

New members

21

795

9,908   
attendees at professional 
development events 

400+  
attendees 
at virtual 
National 
Conference
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Strategic direction
Governance Institute continues to build on our five-year strategy 
(2020–2025) — a clear outline of our vision, purpose, values and 
goals.

A key strategic item has been the commitment to our own 
governance review. Members have been consulted along the 
way with many of you attending town hall meetings to hear 
about and discuss the objectives and progress and provide 
feedback. 

Building our profile
As part of our strategic objectives, we launched our inaugural 
Brand Ambassador program. Diane Smith-Gander AO FGIA FCG 
and Simon Pordage FGIA FCG both accepted the roles. 

We also completed a brand audit and created a brand strategy 
for implementation into 2021. 

Despite challenges and uncertainty associated with the 
pandemic, our website traffic is up 19 per cent, our email 
marketing database has grown to more than 42,000, we now 
have more than 23,000 followers on LinkedIn and we’re more 
in demand for speaking opportunities — with 36 speaking 
engagements in 2020. 

We have also completed a target market strategy — researching 
our top member sectors and industries and adding new 
customer data fields to gain more information about our 
members to allow us to better serve your needs and tailor our 
content. 

Growth in membership
We now have over 8,000 members after 795 joined Governance 
Institute in 2020. 

We continue to engage with our members and customers in 
person through events, discussion groups, online courses, email 
bulletins, phone calls and our social media channels.

Policy and advocacy
With the assistance of our four policy committees, we continue 
to work on a range of policy proposals designed to help ensure: 

1. Australia’s governance environment enables sustainable, 
purposeful organisations that are both profitable and 
internationally competitive

2. Australia’s regulatory framework is clear, certain, coherent 
and fit-for-purpose

3. the professionalism of the Australian governance and risk 
management sector. 

Highlights include:

• Climate change risk disclosure guidance.

• Guidance to assist companies hold AGMs, lodge documents 
and communicate with members under temporary 
amendments to the Corporations Act 2001.

• A submission to the Senate Select Committee on Financial 
Technology and Regulatory Technology, outlining the 
technology overhaul required by business during the 
pandemic.  Megan Motto was among those who gave 
evidence at the Committee hearings and has since joined 
as a member of the Modernising Business Communications 
Expert Panel.

• Advocating for reform of fundraising laws as part of the 
#fixfundraising campaign.

• Updated guidance released for the aged care sector.

Chair and CEO report

It continues to be a momentous time for the governance and risk management professional — 
with the ongoing COVID-19 crisis deeply affecting so many organisations and the decisions that 
they make. Many governance and risk professionals have played a critical role in supporting their 
organisations and helping shape the path out of the pandemic. 

Andrew Leake FGIA FCG

President and Chair of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and  
of the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute.

Megan Motto FGIA

Chief Executive of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and  
of the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute.

We have also released the following to the governance and risk 
management community:

• Statement on electronic storage and execution of 
documents and electronic meetings

• Risk management survey report

• Governance through a crisis (with AICD)

• Guidance: Holding a virtual AGM (with AIRA and Law Council)

• Guidance — COVID-19 and the impact on AGMs

• Digital trust report (with CSIRO’s Data61)

• Board and executive remuneration report (with Aon)

• Board diversity index (with Watermark Search International).

Knowledge support for our members
We continue to develop material to provide governance and risk 
management professionals with the skills and knowledge they 
need to carry out their roles. 

We have updated our suite of risk-themed Good Governance 
Guides and added new technology-themed guides, drilling down 
on the topics of ethical AI, cybersecurity, data as an asset and 
technology governance. 

Education
Governance Institute remains committed to delivering our 
courses in the most effective and safest format and will 
continue to adapt, evolve and pre-empt any developments that 
may prompt further changes.

COVID-19 necessitated a move to a fully online delivery of 
postgraduate education, including online examinations. 

In 2020, the new Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate 
Governance and Risk Management was launched, including an 
embedded Graduate Certificate. The course has educational 
pathways to the designations Chartered Secretary and 
Chartered Governance Professional and articulates with 
university masters-level courses. 

Our focus for the Certificates and short courses was on an 
intensive update and review of all short course content, and 
on the instructional design of online course materials to meet 
contemporary educational standards.

In keeping with the uptake of virtual education, the Effective 
Director Course was delivered in a hybrid format for the first 
time. This enabled participants across three states to join the 
same course and replicated the hybrid board environment that 
is likely to become more common beyond 2020.

Industry-relevant events and forums
Due to the impact of COVID-19 some of our events were purely 
digital while others were held in a hybrid format. Our members 
told us that they wanted topical content to support them with 
COVID-19 preparations and we adjusted accordingly. 

Our Governance and Risk Management Forum was changed 
to merge five physical two-day forums into one national virtual 
event. Our state-based Not-for-profit Governance Forums 
and Public Sector Governance Forums transitioned into 
hybrid events with some states hosting both face-to-face and 
livestream registration options. Our National Conference also 
went digital. We had over 400 attendees and six international 
speakers and 39 domestic speakers.

People and culture
During these challenging times, flexibility in how we work, 
strong communication channels and the availability of 
support initiatives have been key at Governance Institute to 
maintaining staff engagement, cohesion and wellbeing. We’ve 
placed employee wellbeing at the centre of everything we do, 
demonstrated with our clear COVID-19 response plan, national 
Employee Assistance Program and COVID-19 staff check-in 
survey.

Chair and CEO report

Flexibility in how we work, strong communication channels and the availability  
of support initiatives have been key at Governance Institute to maintaining staff 

engagement, cohesion and wellbeing

Operational excellence
An independent IT audit resulted in the creation of a three-year 
IT roadmap to transform our technology into a cloud-based 
solution, with security being the cornerstone of this. Now with 
a strong foundation for future IT investment, our attention 
moves to optimising our member-focused applications such 
as our client relationship management system, website and 
student related applications. We will continue to strengthen our 
cybersecurity with independent annual audits and penetration 
testing now part of our governance framework.

Financial health
An operating surplus of $818,679 was reported for the year and 
included $1,388,900 of federal and state government subsidies, 
including JobKeeper. Excluding these subsidies, an underlying 
loss of $570,221 was reported from ordinary activities.

Our 2020 financial report is available on page 31.

Thank you
Thank you to our members, exceptional staff and partners 
for your hard work and contribution to Governance Institute. 
Thank you also to our many dedicated volunteers who greatly 
assist us by teaching, participating in state councils and policy 
committees and contributing in so many other ways.
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Transparency
The strategic plan forms the basis of activities for the future but 
it also acts as the primary accountability mechanism between 
management and the Board. Operational performance, KPIs and 
adherence to set project timelines are monitored on a regular 
basis by the chief executive and by the Board at each of its 
meetings through the year. Key management personnel also 
present to the Board at each meeting, providing an opportunity 
for directors to question senior management directly.

Accountability
Governance Institute operates nationally and with 
representation in all states. Members of our Board are elected 
from each state, for a term of three years.

The Board and management have a clear understanding of their 
respective roles and responsibilities. The Board’s charter is 
available on our website and may be viewed here.

Each state council also has a clear understanding of its role in 
assisting the Board to represent the interests of the members 
in each state. The charter of the state council is regularly 
reviewed to ensure it is fit for purpose as the strategic direction 
of the organisation changes. State councillors are integral to 
Governance Institute’s engagement with its members. They 
provide feedback and ideas to enhance our services and 
offerings and act as ambassadors and mentors within their local 
state community.

Governance Institute is a not-for profit, national membership 
association. Our mission is to drive better governance in 
organisations of all types through the provision of education, 
advocacy and thought leadership. For our own governance 
framework, and although not obliged to do so, we have regard to 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations (4th edition). Our Corporate 
Governance Statement is available on the Governance Institute 
website and may be viewed here.

In 2020, a key strategic item has been our commitment to our 
own governance review and, as has already been noted in the 
Chair and CEO report, members have been consulted along the 
way.

Our six broad principles or governance ‘pillars’ are discussed 
below. 

Stewardship and financial sustainability
Governance Institute directors seek to ensure the sustainability 
of our organisation for the benefit of our stakeholders. The 
directors set the strategic direction to ensure the organisation 
remains financially strong, that membership is engaged and 
grows, and that the organisation remains relevant to members 
and customers, government, regulators, business, media and 
other key stakeholders now and into the future.

All the major strategic decisions made by Governance Institute 
result from an ongoing strategic planning process. Each 
year, the Board holds a meeting dedicated to reviewing and 
focusing on strategy. Our strategy is documented and reported 
against at each Board meeting, enabling the Board to monitor 
strategy throughout the year. Senior management and staff key 
performance indicators (KPIs) are developed to align with the 
strategic direction of the organisation.

To ensure the financial health and sustainability of the 
organisation, the directors set strategies to diversify revenue 
streams.

We review our education, training and professional development 
offerings in order to cater for the expanding needs of a widening 
membership. 

Membership
We report to members not only in this Annual Report, but also 
in our digital journal, Governance Directions, and in a range 
of other communications. We also regularly engage with our 
members using social media. This enables us to keep members 
fully informed.

Governance and stewardship
Governance Institute’s own governance framework is modelled on that of leading listed 
companies but with additional elements reflecting our status as a membership organisation. We 
believe this multifaceted approach is not only appropriate to the nature of our organisation but 
ensures it can sustainably deliver value to members into the future. 

Integrity
All members must abide by the members’ Code of Ethics 
available on our website. However, the incidence of disciplinary 
action taken against members is very low, highlighting how you, 
our members, embody integrity in your professional practice 
conduct.

Each staff member has the values of the organisation 
embedded in their annual performance plan, one of which is to 
behave ethically and with integrity.

We bring an independent mind to influencing public policy and 
other issues affecting the profession. We also promote integrity 
in our learning programs, not only via the quality of the content 
but also through procedural fairness and educational equity. Our 
academic policies are publicly available on our website and may 
be viewed here.           

Governance and stewardship

Governance structure

Risk management
It is the responsibility of the Board, management and staff 
to continually review what Governance Institute does, to 
investigate new opportunities, and to take account of individual 
risks in decision-making.

One way we do this is by applying the key learnings from our 
education, training and professional development offerings 
into our own organisation to continuously enhance our 
risk management framework and associated systems and 
processes.

Board of Directors

Board  
committees

Policy &  
strategy

Membership  
state councils

Professional  
development

Risk, audit 
& finance

Legislation 
review

New South 
Wales/ ACT

Education

Remuneration  
& nomination

Corporate & 
legal issues

Victoria

Public sector 
governance

South Australia/
Northern Territory

Risk &  
technology

Queensland

Tasmania

Western  
Australia

Communication

https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/constitution-charters-policies/
www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/annual-report/
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/media/885092/gia-code-of-conduct_july-2020_final.pdf
https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/courses-events/postgraduate-study-with-governance-institute-of-australia/academic-policies/


The Board
Warren Baillie LLB, BCom, GradDipCSP, FGIA, FCG, MAICD  
(appointed 12.1.11. Resigned 31.12.20)

Extensive experience in corporate and commercial law, corporate governance and 
company secretarial practice, both in the corporate sector and the NFP sector. 
Currently group company secretary of Woodside Energy Ltd. Also, a non-executive 
director of Black Swan Health Limited and Wesley College. Past president of the 
Board of Governance Institute.

Garth Fountain-Smith LLB, GradCertLegPrac, GradDipACG, 
FGIA, FCG, MAICD 
(appointed 31.1.16)

Principal legal practitioner and director of Fountain-Smith Governance Lawyers 
Pty Ltd in Victoria. In-depth experience in corporations law, directors’ and officers’ 
duties, regulatory compliance and enforcement law, financial services law, 
commercial litigation, professional conduct matters and board reviews. Garth is a 
governance professional with extensive ASIC experience as a lawyer and manager. 
Executive management experience as director, chief operating officer and general 
counsel in the IT sector. Chair of Constitution Working Committee, past chair of CLIC, 
member of Victoria State Council, past deputy chair of Victoria State Council and 
member of the Legislation Review Committee. 

Andrew Leake BEc, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, CA, GAICD  
(appointed 1.1.16)

2021 President of the Board of Governance Institute. A senior business leader with 
extensive experience in business consulting, corporate finance, publishing, education, 
NFP, governance and secretarial practice. COO at Wenona School, a leading Sydney 
school for girls. Director of the Winston Churchill Memorial Trust, NSW Selection Chair 
and Chair of Remuneration and Nomination sub-committee. Past chair of Governance 
Institute’s NSW State Council.

Christine Manuel BMus, GradDipACG, DipCD, DipInvRel, FGIA, 
FCG, MAICD, MAITD, AAIPM 
(appointed 1.1.17)

Currently Company Secretary at Angel Seafood Holdings Limited and AML3D Ltd. 
Previous roles include Company Secretary of People’s Choice Credit Union and 
Group Secretariat Adviser at Santos Ltd. International experience in project and 
risk management and senior corporate management roles providing consulting and 
training services in various technical disciplines in the Asia Pacific region. Facilitator 
for various Governance Institute Certificate programs and in-house training since 
2012. Member of Governance Institute’s Legislation Review Committee, past chair of 
the SA/NT State Council and Vice President of the Board of Governance Institute.

The Board

John Mazengarb BCom, FGIA, FCG, FCA, MAICD  
(appointed 8.1.14)

2020 President of the Board of Governance Institute. Extensive management 
consultancy career with PricewaterhouseCoopers and IBM and senior executive 
contract positions for Tasmanian Government businesses leading major transformation 
programs. Executive director of GSD Advisors Pty Ltd; non-executive director of 
Mafematica Pty Ltd; trustee director of TasPlan Limited; independent member of 
TasBuild Ltd Investment Committee; independent Chair of Clarence City Council Audit 
Committee and trustee director of MTAA Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd, T/A ‘Spirit 
Super’. Member of Tasmanian State Council since 2009. Director of Governance 
Institute subsidiary companies.

Rachel Rees BBus, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, FCA  
(appointed 8.2.13)

Senior executive and Chartered Accountant with extensive leadership, commercial, 
strategic financial and risk management and corporate governance experience in 
multinational, listed and large private corporations. Executive roles include Chief 
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of companies in the logistics, mining and 
energy sectors. Past president of Governance Institute and current Chair of the Risk, 
Audit and Finance Committee. Current member of the WA State Council. Director of 
Governance Institute subsidiary companies.

Tim Timchur BBus, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCG, FCPA, FIML,  
FAMI, GIACD, CPM 
(appointed 1.1.18)

Extensive experience in accounting, corporate governance, risk management and 
technology, in the corporate and NFP sectors. Currently Managing Director of 365 
Architechs Pty Ltd. Facilitator for various Governance Institute Certificate programs 
since 2013. Member of the Queensland State Council, Risk Audit and Finance Board 
Committee, National Risk and Technology Policy Committee, and the Commercial and 
Legal Issues Policy Committee.

Peter Turnbull AM, BCom, LLB, FGIA (Life), FCG, FAICD  
(appointed 1.1.09. Resigned 31.12.20)

A non-executive director and chair with extensive experience in company secretarial 
practice, corporate law and governance practice. Current non-executive and chair roles 
include ASX listed companies in the energy and technology sectors and former executive 
roles have included senior roles with regulatory authorities in Australia and Hong Kong 
and senior corporate roles with ASX Top 20 companies. Currently international President 
of The Chartered Governance Institute, Life member and past president of the Board of 
Governance Institute.
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General management team

Megan joined Governance Institute of Australia as chief 
executive in January 2019. Megan was previously the 
CEO of Consult Australia. Megan is also currently a 
Director of Standards Australia and the Committee for 
Economic Development of Australia (CEDA). 

Megan Motto FGIA

Chief Executive

Meegan’s experience extends over 20 years of 
international involvement in global custody, financial 
planning, insurance, superannuation and professional 
associations. Her current responsibilities include 
finance, IT, people and culture, risk management, legal 
and compliance and property and leasing.

Meegan George FGIA

Chief Operations Officer

Leon drives membership growth and business 
development initiatives across the listed, unlisted and 
not-for profit sectors. He is also responsible for the 
Divisions and Sales functions. Leon has over 15 years 
of experience working with professional associations. 

Leon Cox
General Manager, Membership  

Rachel leads the engagement strategy including oversight 
of strategic alliances, communications and national 
events. She has a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate 
Governance and Risk Management from Governance 
Institute and an MBA (Executive).

Rachel Waterhouse FGIA FCG

General Manager, Engagement

Catherine’s team is responsible for policy and advocacy. 
Her background includes a senior manager role with 
APRA, policy and governance roles at the AICD and 
the Financial Services Council, secretariat to the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council and as company secretary 
for the Cancer Council NSW.  She has also worked as a 
lawyer in Sydney and Hong Kong.

Catherine Maxwell FGIA FCG

General Manager, Policy & Advocacy

Mark’s team supports Governance Institute’s 
objective of being the leading provider of accredited 
postgraduate education and training in governance 
and risk management. Mark has 20+ years’ experience 
working in higher education in Australia and the UK.

Mark Wilbourn
General Manager, Education

General management team
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With the overall direction of our member-focused strategy 
remaining sound, in 2021 we will build upon the achievements 
and work undertaken so far.

High on the agenda this year is the implementation of the 
key recommendations from the governance review of our 
organisation. This is an external review commenced in 2020 and 
will ensure Governance Institute of Australia is the exemplar of 
governance excellence.

We have a lot planned for this year as we continue to service our 
members, advocate for our community and increase awareness 
of the importance of good governance, guided at all times by our 
2020–2025 Strategy.

Overview of our key 2021 strategic initiatives

Member value

Our focus is on ensuring our products and services are world 
class. 

We will build on our value of ‘service excellence’, measuring our 
members’ satisfaction and feedback and regularly reviewing our 
product and service offerings. 

Following a successful series of town hall meetings in 2020, 
we will continue to place a renewed focus on engaging with our 
members based in regional Australia.

Stronger voice

We are pleased to see our membership growing and will 
continue to build upon this. 

With this membership growth, plus new strategic alliances 
(including with universities) and our increasing public presence, 
our voice and influence will also continue to grow, enabling us to 
further encourage good governance practices in society.

Advocacy

We will continue to position ourselves strongly as the sought-
after voice shaping the governance environment, advocating on 
behalf of the governance and risk management community. 

Our focus is now firmly on implementing our policy strategy, 
developing government relations capability and working with the 
Canberra Leadership Group.

We will build upon the increasing awareness of Governance 
Institute, informing and educating the community of who we 
are and what we do — and why good governance and risk 
management should be at the core of every organisation.

We will do this by celebrating our members’ achievements, 
expanding our brand ambassador program, and ensuring we 
are a strong voice in the public debate and discussion on 
governance and risk management issues.

Strategy 2020–2025
Our 2020–2025 Strategy guided us through a challenging 2020, allowing us to focus strongly on 
our core vision, purpose, values and goals while also being adaptive and nimble when required.

Our Vision:

Strategic Plan 2020–2025

INFLUENCE INSPIRE SUPPORT

Stronger voice Brand and profile Advocacy Future focus Education Enhance member 
value

To enhance credibility 
through scale and 

diversity.

To increase awareness 
within the community of 

who we are and  
what we do.

To be the sought-after 
voice that shapes the 

governance environment.

To shape a future 
generation of ideas and 
people who will govern.

To deliver courses and 
programs that enhance 

knowledge  
and capability.

To deliver world-class 
products, services and 

community that are  
highly valued.

Financial and operational excellence | Exceptional people and culture | Member centric | Best practice governance

Integrity Courage Service excellence Collaboration

Champion whole-of-organisation governance and 
risk management through education, advocacy 
and engagement with members and the broader 
community 

Strengthening society through  
governance excellence

Pillars:

Pathways:

Foundations:

Values:

Our purpose:

Strategy 2020-2025

Education

Our courses and programs are designed to maximise our 
students’ learning outcomes on key governance and risk 
management issues. 

We continue to roll out new, user-friendly formats for learning, 
implementing a student-focused learning technology strategy 
and governance capability framework.

Operations

Our operations strategy focuses on financial and operational 
excellence and the implementation of a three-year IT strategy 
that includes new staff intranet, a strengthening of our cyber 
security and a new website that will be easy-to-use for 
members and our students.

We will continue to implement our well-being strategy. This 
involves culture pulse checks, an annual employee engagement 
survey, and access to an Employee Assistance Program.
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Marie-Louise 
MacDonald 
GIA(Affiliated)

Chief Executive Officer 
Masonic Care WA /Grand 
Lodge WA

Priyamvada Rasal  
AGIA ACG 
Company Secretary/
Corporate Governance 
Advisor  
Mertons Corporate 
Services 

Alan Wu 
FGIA FCG

Member of the Board,  
Oxfam Australia and 
Democracy in Colour 

Profiles of members

Andrew Gardiner 
GIA(Affiliated) 
Manager, IT Governance 
The University of Adelaide 

How an understanding of governance/risk 
management helps me in my role

As Manager, IT Governance at The University 
of Adelaide, I am responsible for leading 
the development and management of the 
IT Governance framework to ensure that 
the IT function is effectively and efficiently 
supporting the university in achieving its 
strategic objectives and appropriately managing 
IT related risks. A sound understanding 
of governance and risk management is 
fundamental to my role in providing leadership, 
guidance and support to establish good 
governance practices across the IT branch, 
helping to ensure that we deliver value to the 
broader university.

Why I belong to Governance Institute

Governance Institute membership provides me 
with access to a range of valuable best-practice 
templates and resources, interesting thought 
leadership articles on recent trends and a 
network of 42,000+ experienced governance 
practitioners to connect with.

How an understanding of governance/risk management  
helps me in my role 

The past year has reinforced to me the need for our group of companies 
to be agile and adaptable to rapidly changing processes associated with 
COVID-19, outcomes of the banking and aged care royal commissions, and 
a decentralised-deployed workforce with greater levels of autonomy. Having 
a company-wide understanding of governance and risk has resulted in 
increased productivity, a committed and satisfied workforce and an ability to 
adapt in an environment of change.  

As CEO, I have found that governance is led from the board and executive in 
partnership. A rapidly changing environment cannot be dealt with instinctively 
but requires experience and a keen understanding of governance and risk, 
which filters through all decision-making in the organisation. 

Why I belong to Governance Institute 

I belong to Governance Institute because business and legislative 
requirements are continually evolving and they are now occurring at an 
increasing velocity. As an individual, I cannot keep up with the amount of 
changing information. Governance Institute acts as my filter. Boards and 
members/stakeholders expect exceptional leadership in governance and 
risk assessment areas with mitigation processes built into day-to-day 
management. No executive manager can provide leadership without up-to-
date knowledge from continuing to absorb further education — this is what 
the Institute gives me! 

How an understanding of governance/risk management  
helps me in my role 

A robust governance/risk strategy and framework is pivotal to every 
corporate, as it empowers the companies to promote a culture of 
compliance, protect their business as well as stakeholders and mitigate 
risks. As a Company Secretary/Corporate Governance Advisor, my role 
encompasses corporate governance advisory and company secretarial 
services to the board of directors and senior management of a diversified 
clientele. Governance knowledge is crucial whilst guiding and monitoring the 
development and operational application of corporate governance principles 
and recommendations. It also enables me to provide expertise on statutory 
compliances and adherence to reporting timelines under the regulatory 
requirements to our clientele.

Why I belong to Governance Institute

Governance Institute has helped me pave my way into the corporate 
world as a company secretary. Participation in workshops and events has 
benefited me immensely, by strengthening my knowledge base and its 
application in a practical sense. The journals and articles published are 
highly informative; enabling me to keep abreast of all the regulatory updates, 
pre-eminent to deliver governance/compliance-related services in my 
current role. 

Membership also offers avenues for sharing knowledge and expertise, 
identifying career progression opportunities, and networking with industry 
experts and peers.

How an understanding of governance/risk management  
helps me in my role 

More than ever before, our community rightly expects that purpose-driven 
organisations will pursue their mission with integrity, in a way that optimises 
their social impact, and as efficiently as possible. Whether through helping 
set these organisations’ strategic direction and their policies; monitoring their 
performance; overseeing their financial wellbeing, risk management, and legal 
compliance; or helping shape their organisational cultures, good boards are 
vital to ensuring that these organisations are well-structured and managed 
to do all the good they can. Every board member must themselves have a 
sound understanding of governance and risk management to effectively 
discharge their duties, so that ultimately we can best ensure the success of 
the organisations we’ve been entrusted to govern.  

Why I belong to Governance Institute 

Being a member of Governance Institute is a key way to support the 
professionalisation of governance practice, both in Australia, and — through 
the Institute’s international networks — around the world. Governance 
Institute helps maintain rigorous standards for governance understanding and 
accreditation; provides resources and opportunities for ongoing learning and 
development; and nurtures a powerful network of governance professionals 
that can provide thought leadership on emerging issues, and advocate for 
reform. Ultimately, being a member of Governance Institute is one of the best 
ways to ensure I’m good at what I’ve been entrusted to do. 

How an understanding of governance/risk 
management helps me in my role

Broadly, it enables me to advise my stakeholders on 
the practical measures that need to be implemented at 
the bank and the legal and regulatory obligations which 
underpin them. Given the scope of the governance 
operations that my team oversees, it’s vital we can 
articulate the merits of the policies and procedures we 
champion to a diverse range of stakeholders across 
multiple jurisdictions. An understanding of governance 
also enables me to better understand the perspective 
and drivers of the people I work with, including boards, 
management teams and external stakeholders. 

Why I belong to Governance Institute

I am a member of Governance Institute to remain familiar 
not only with Australian, but international best practice 
in relation to corporate governance. On a personal note, 
I enjoy reflecting on and sharing learnings with my peers, 
as I believe that we can all benefit from reframing our 
perspectives on key topics. Being an active member also 
enables me to contribute to submissions to, and liaise 
with, regulators and legislators on governance matters. 

Profiles of members

Vicki Clarkson 
FGIA FCG 
General Manager, 
Governance Operations 
Commonwealth Bank
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Best performing topics for professional development included:

• Coronavirus — Know your directors’ duties and how to 
manage them

• Coronavirus — evolving business impact and continuity 
planning

• Corporate culture and governance during the pandemic 

• Relevance and materiality of climate risk disclosure

• Climate change — Risk and reporting for boards and 
management

• Whistleblowing — Implementing an ethical, responsible and 
lawful framework.

Education 
Governance Institute educational offerings are a valued asset 
for our new members — members comprised 43 per cent of 
the student cohort in 2020. Nine per cent of the student cohort 
became members after graduation. In addition, 30 per cent of 
students who completed a Certificate or postgraduate course 
in 2020 with Governance Institute were current members at the 
time of graduation. In 2020, 41 per cent of all new members 
either completed or enrolled in study with Governance Institute  

Milestones 
As our members progress through their careers we recognise 
their achievements. In 2020: 

• 40 members progressed from Affiliated membership to 
Associate or Fellow membership 

• 38 members progressed from Associate to Fellow 
membership 

• 56 members reached 50 years of membership 

• 106 members reached retirement.

Member retention rate

Membership growth
2020 has seen membership increase to over 8,000 members 
due to a strong growth rate of six per cent and a high retention 
rate across all categories of membership.

Growing our membership base strengthens the governance 
and risk management community, brings new networks and 
connections to our membership and helps us maintain and build 
a sustainable organisation. 

Overall membership retention remained high at 91 per cent for 
2020, we have welcomed 795 new members to our community 
and have grown our membership to new levels.

Diversity and profile
Governance Institute supports members as they start and 
continue their governance careers. Membership is recognised 
as a stamp of excellence in governance and risk management 
across a wide array of professional backgrounds. Predominantly 
our members are senior governance and risk professionals; 
spanning professions such as law, IT, finance, healthcare 
and education. Women account for 38 per cent of our total 
membership, increasing 15 per cent over the last six years as 
the representation of women in professions like law, finance and 
executive management increase. As a national association our 
members also reflect a diversity of geographic locations, with 
NSW and VIC being home to the majority of our members.

Event attendance 
Governance Institute transitioned a significant number of events  
to a virtual format in 2020 due to COVID-19 social distancing 
restrictions. The virtual events proved popular and options to 
attend events either face to face or virtually will continue. Virtual 
event attendance has enabled greater engagement with our 
regional and remote members.

New members

Our membership
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2020
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Affiliated Associate Fellow
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• ACT

• Overseas
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2020
35%

19%

21%

10%

9%
6%

Our membership

New members joining the Institute by gender

Overall members by gender

At year end, members and subscribers 
totalled 8,319

Membership by profile

Members by state

2020

2%
2%

1%

38%

25%

15%

13%

4%

Total number of membersNumber of members and subscribers

The majority of face-to-face events 
transitioned to digital events in 2020.

• Senior career governance 
or risk management 
professional

• CEO or C-suite executive

• Early career governance 
or risk management 
professional

• Governance or risk 
management consultant

• Non-executive director

• Retired
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Website
The digital journal, Governance Directions, circulation increased 
by 77 per cent from 2,553 to 4,533 from Sept 2019–Sept 2020 
(source: Audited Media Association of Australia).

Website growth, number of unique users

2020 356,749

2019 298,562

Digital events
Social distancing rules and the importance of member 
engagement meant that we transitioned existing face-to-
face events to digital events. We also added a town hall 
series. The digital format allowed members to engage from 
anywhere across Australia or around the globe. Our state-
based Governance and Risk Management Forums and National 
Conference also transitioned to virtual-only, where we engaged 
314 attendees on day one and 299 on day two of the forum, and 
with over 400 attendees at our National Conference. 

2020 63 virtual events with 8,094 registrations

2019 11 webinars with 3,109 registrations

Social media
Social media is an important engagement, brand awareness 
and referral channel for Governance Institute. In 2020, LinkedIn 
exceeded the 23,000 follower milestone. 

Email marketing
The email database continued to grow in 2020. Our News 
Update email reached over 42,000 people.

Last year, we created new email templates and are able to send 
content based on members and customers’ career stage, sector 
and industry. This means we can provide the most relevant 
content to the right member or customer. 

Email database growth, number of email subscribers 

2020 42,100

2019 38,292

YouTube
At the end of 2020, we had over 600 YouTube followers and 
‘What is risk management’ video created in February received 
over 22,000 views. This is our second ‘explainer’ video following 
the ‘What is governance’ created in 2019 that has had 39,000 
views over two years, and the reach of these videos continues 
to grow.

Media
Last year, we had 295 media mentions, one of our strongest 
years for media coverage. This coverage was driven by our 
commentary on governance and risk management issues 
associated with the pandemic including how to navigate virtual 
meetings and electronically execute documents as well as 
the crisis in the aged care sector that was exacerbated by 
COVID-19. Our program of reports and thought leadership also 
prompted consistent and high-level media coverage. These 
reports included our Risk management survey, 2020 Ethics 
index, The future of the risk management professional, and the 
Board diversity index, undertaken jointly with Watermark Search 
International. 

Digital engagement

LinkedIn

Twitter Facebook

LinkedIn member only group

Instagram

Increase in number of social media followers

2018

2019

2020

23,553

19,826

15,151

3,766

3,552

3,226

2,102

1,719

1,534

1,855
251

156
1,870

1,380

Our 2020 video ‘What is risk management?’ received 
over 22,000 views on YouTube.

Navigating the pandemic: 
Thought leadership, guidance 
and submissions
When the COVID-19 pandemic first unfolded, many companies were heading directly into 
the mini-AGM season. This prompted significant confusion about how to organise and hold a 
shareholder meeting in accordance with the law as well as COVID-19 distancing requirements. 

Many oganisations were also scrambling 
to execute hard-copy legal documents 
while faced with strict ‘stay-at-home’ 
orders. 

To assist members, Governance Institute 
released a series of guides outlining 
how to best manage the rapidly evolving 
business landscape. 

These included joint guidance with 
Australasian Investor Relations 
Association (AIRA) and the Business Law 
Section of the Law Council of Australia 
(LCA) COVID-19 and the impact on AGMs. 

This guidance highlighted how companies 
needed to ensure shareholders had a 
reasonable opportunity to participate at 
an AGM, including opportunities to ask 
questions, make comments and vote. 

Later in the year we issued another joint 
guidance with AIRA and the LCA Holding a 
virtual AGM. 

This outlined ASIC’s guidelines for investor 
meetings using virtual technology as well 
as a comprehensive set of tips for holding 
a virtual AGM. 

Throughout the pandemic we have also 
advocated for temporary changes to the 
Corporations Act 2001 — allowing virtual 
meetings and electronic communication 
with shareholders — to be made 
permanent. 

We made a submission to the Senate 
Select Committee on Financial Technology 
and Regulatory Technology Technological 
solutions enabling Australian businesses 
to survive and operate during the 
COVID-19 crisis and beyond. Our CEO 
Megan Motto FGIA and Legislation Review 
Committee members Peter Smiles FGIA, 

FCG and Graeme Blackett FGIA, FCG gave 
evidence at the Committee hearings.  

Megan Motto has also been appointed 
to the Modernising Business 
Communications Expert Panel. 

In response to a range of questions from 
members during the year about electronic 
storage and execution of documents 
and electronic meetings we obtained 
advice from Douglas Gration FGIA(Life) 
FCG Of Counsel which forms part of our 
Statement on electronic storage and 
execution of documents and electronic 
meetings.  

In collaboration with the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, we 
published a report Governance through a 
crisis: Learning from COVID-19.  

This focused on the impact of COVID-19 
on board practices (including holding 
effective virtual meetings), providing 
insights into the governance challenges 
stemming from the pandemic. 

To round out the year, we made a 
comprehensive submission to the Federal 

Government’s proposed Corporations 
Amendment (Virtual Meetings and 
Electronic Communications) Bill 2020. 

In this submission we recommended that 
the legislation be technology neutral, and 
that: ‘The key reason the measures in 
the Bill are needed is that the outdated, 
paper-based state of the Corporations Act 
mean parts of the Act are no longer fit for 
purpose in a constantly evolving digital 
world.’ 

We explained that meeting formats should 
not be mandated, rather it should be ‘open 
to companies to adopt the format most 
suited to them and their members.’ 

How to hold a meeting during the 
pandemic and how to lodge and execute 
documents during a major lockdown have 
caused many challenges for organisations 
but have also prompted the fast-tracking 
of some much-needed changes to this 
area of the business landscape, that we 
hope will soon become permanent. 

Governance Institute will continue to 
advocate strongly for change, and for our 
laws to be brought into the 21st century.

Navigating the pandemic
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Governance Institute provides 
leading education and training 
in corporate governance and 
risk management to:

• develop and enrich the 
governance and risk 
management expertise of 
members

• encourage new membership 
of Governance Institute 
via education and training 
pathways

• promote good governance 
by encouraging the uptake 
of governance and risk 
management skills more 
generally in the wider 
community

• assist organisations enhance 
their governance capability 
and more effective decision-
making

• build alliances with other 
educators to leverage 
governance and risk 
education into new areas.

Short courses Certificates

Individuals often first engage with our 
education and training by searching for 
specific governance or risk management 
issues and for just-in-time learning in a 
particular area. Students can register into 
individual courses and complete them 
progressively or register for six courses for 
a Certificate upfront. 

With the onset of COVID-19 in 2020 the 
delivery of short courses shifted to digital 
and this resulted in fewer attendees. 

For those seeking to develop a professional 
hands-on understanding of governance or risk 
management, a suite of short courses can then 
be undertaken. These articulate into one of 
three Certificates. There is a continued trend 
of high female enrolment in these courses. In 
2020, the number of enrolments increased by 
17 per cent on the previous year.

Number of short courses undertaken

Number of Certificate enrolments

Number of graduates

Professional membership

Those who have undertaken education at a postgraduate level 
with us are entitled to apply to become Associate or Fellow 
members. Graduates of a Certificate course are entitled to 
apply to become an Affiliated member. 

However, with the introduction of the Professional Entry 
Scheme (PES) students can become members across all 
categories, provided they meet the PES requirements, before 
they enrol or graduate their course.

A total of 294 new PES members studied a Certificate or 
postgraduate education in 2020, which means 44 per cent of 
new PES members studied in 2020, an increase of eight per 
cent on 2019.

Developing governance and 
risk management expertise

New members by pathway

 Entry through 
Certificate

Entry through 
postgraduate 

Entry through 
PES

2020 62 57 672

2019 96 81 642

2018 150 96 497

PES members undertaking education

 Certificate Postgraduate 

2020 163 135

2019 127 104

2018 108 47

0 100 200

2018

2019

2020 120

174

167

Postgraduate courses

New members who graduated with  
a Certificate

Individuals can undertake accredited postgraduate courses as their careers progress, 
providing a deeper and much more rigorous exploration of knowledge and skills, 
appropriate to more senior levels of governance and risk management responsibility. 
The enrolments in postgraduate courses reflect the gender balance of broader society 
and will, in the long term, lead to evolution in the composition of Governance Institute’s 
membership.

Number of postgraduate enrolments
Number of enrolments by Certificate 
graduates

Number of graduates

New members who graduated from a 
postgraduate course

AGIA or FGIA membership

Many Certificate graduates go on to 
undertake the postgraduate courses 
benefiting from greater exposure to 
governance knowledge and skills  
found in Governance Institute’s 
postgraduate courses.

Governance Institute’s Certificates
• Certificate in Governance Practice

• Certificate in Governance and Risk 
Management

• Certificate in Governance for  
Not-for-Profits. 

Governance Institute’s postgraduate courses
• Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance

• Graduate Certificate of Applied Risk Management

• Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk 
Management

• Graduate Certificate of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk 
Management

Networking and  
profile events
Governance Institute networking and 
profile events connect our members, 
subscribers and professional 
participants with colleagues working 
in their unique field of interest or 
responsibility. In 2020 we saw fewer 
networking events however we were 
able to increase the attendance 
through virtual offerings.

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2020 30 2,384

2019 53 1,570

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2020 30 2,384

2019 53 1,570

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2020 228 9,908

2019 197 6,883

2018 169 5,081

Developing governance and risk management expertise
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Professional development events

In 2020, saw an increase in the number of events that were offered because 
virtual events were able to be recorded and offered as a recording therefore 
creating more opportunity for participants to engage. 

Professional development events provide our members, subscribers and 
customers with opportunities to stay up to date on current topics relevant to 
their roles. The number of attendees at our professional development events 
increased.
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What sets Governance Institute Certificate and postgraduate courses apart is the direct involvement of expert practitioners and 
academics. Governance Institute members add value by participating in the development and presentation of education and 
training programs. This expertise and practical experience of members, coupled with the insight of selected academic experts who 
have studied governance systems and legal frameworks for many years, strengthens and reinforces the Governance Institute-as-
educator model. This is well recognised by industry. By being involved in training and education, Governance Institute members can 
also further hone their own practical skills and conceptual frameworks, thus creating a virtuous circle of governance expertise and 
practice. As a result, governance and risk management skills are handed down from generation to generation and are continually 
being enhanced and improved.

Course directors of postgraduate course subjects who 
are Governance Institute members
Course directors are lecturers and tutors in our postgraduate 
courses. They are responsible for teaching classes to a 
postgraduate standard. The new postgraduate course subjects 
have attracted industry experts outside of the Institute’s 
membership.

Guest presenters at postgraduate course subjects who 
are Governance Institute members
Guest presenters contribute to face-to-face delivery. The onset 
of COVID-19 necessitated a move to fully online delivery. Guest 
presenters will be re-introduced in 2021 in line with a move to 
blended delivery.

Members of Education Committee, Assessment Review 
Committee and Subject Advisory Committees who are 
Governance Institute members
Governance Institute has several academic committees and panels 
including the Education Committee, the Assessment Review 
Committee, and Subject Advisory Committees of each subject.

Training presenters who are Governance Institute members
Training presenters deliver the short courses for  
Governance Institute.

Training authors/reviewers/markers who are Governance 
Institute members
The training authors/reviewers/markers are selected based 
on specific expertise in governance or risk, or have academic 
qualifications.

Governance Institute also utilises non-members in particular 
specialised roles in education and training. This is done 
where the skill set does not exist within the membership, 
or where particular qualifications are required, for example, 
academic accounting qualifications for delivery of the 
accounting/finance subjects in the Graduate Diploma of 
Applied Corporate Governance and Risk Management.

Industry expertise involved in 
education and training

2018

2019

2020 49%

50%

47%

2018

2019

2020 0%

53%

59%

2018

2019

2020 82%

79%

71%

Industry expertise involved in education and training

(due to COVID-19)
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to assist companies to hold AGMs 
using technology, lodge and execute 
documents and communicate with their 
members under temporary amendments 
to the Corporations Act.

We advocated strongly for companies 
to have the ability to hold AGMs using 
technology permanently and for 
electronic shareholder communications 
to be permitted. These reforms are now 
on the political agenda in 2021, and we 
have made a submission to Treasury on 
the draft legislation. Lobbying for these 
reforms to be enacted will be a priority in 
2021.

Roundtables with members from our 
four policy committees informed our 
joint collaboration with the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors 
Governance through a crisis: Learnings 
from COVID-19. We also issued two joint 
guidance notes for members: Guidance 
— COVID-19 and the impact on AGMs 
with Australasian Investor Relations 
Association (AIRA) and the Business Law 
Section of the Law Council of Australia 
(LCA), and Guidance: Holding a virtual 
AGM with AIRA and LCA.

We made a submission to, and our CEO 
and members appeared before, the 
Senate Select Committee on Financial 
Technology and Regulatory Technology 
on technological solutions enabling 
Australian businesses to survive and 
operate during the COVID-19 crisis and 
beyond. We continued our participation 
in the Modernising Business Registers 
(MBR) Business Advisory Group and the 
Modernising Business Communications 
Expert Panel. We actively advocated 
for full funding and momentum on the 

Advocacy is a key pathway to fulfilling our 
vision of strengthening society through 
governance excellence. We know that we 
have been successful when we achieve 
the policy outcomes for which we have 
been advocating. As an independent 
and trusted voice, we made 14 public 
submissions to government and others in 
2020 on a range of policy areas and also 
provided input on a confidential basis 
as our expertise is sought to test public 
policy ideas.

We also met with government ministers, 
regulators and those advising policy 
makers, represented our members 
on relevant industry and regulatory 
committees, gave evidence to Senate 
Committee inquiries, and provided 
media commentary on issues as they 
arose to influence the development of 
public policy. Our four policy committees 
underpin this work.

COVID-19 intensified our focus 
on ensuring our members and the 
organisations they serve had the right 
governance structures, processes and 
policies in place during the pandemic 
and appropriate laws and regulations to 
support them.

Objective 1: Australia’s 
governance environment 
enables sustainable, 
purposeful organisations 
that are both profitable and 
internationally competitive
As the pandemic unfolded, Governance 
Institute worked with members, ASIC, 
Treasury and other stakeholders 

project and welcomed the allocation of 
$419.9M in the 2020 –21 Federal Budget.

Governance Institute lodged a pre-
budget submission with Federal 
Treasury in January 2020 recommending 
measures to improve economic 
productivity, including the MBR project 
and Corporations Act reforms. This 
was a timely submission as many of 
our recommendations increased in 
importance as the pandemic unfolded.

Our Public Sector Governance 
Committee also considered the proper 
scope, resourcing and powers of a 
Commonwealth Integrity Commission 
(CIC) to prevent corruption and safeguard 
public trust. We will make a submission 
on the Government’s proposals in early 
2021.

Objective 2: Australia’s 
regulatory framework is clear, 
certain, coherent and fit-for-
purpose
As bushfires raged in south-eastern 
Australia, we launched our Climate 
change risk disclosure guidance, in 
February 2020. The Guidance assists 
listed companies report against the new 
Recommendation 7.4 of the 4th edition 
of the Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations and is included as 
a resource on the Corporate Governance 
Council website.

As the fundraising revenues of charities 
fell, Governance Institute supported the 
formation of a Charities Crisis Cabinet. 
The Cabinet successfully lobbied for 
fiscal support for the sector during the 

Leadership and influence
Governance Institute’s policy and advocacy are supported by long-standing relationships with 
key stakeholders. Our members’ significant expertise and experience inform our policy and 
advocacy positions. During 2020, our policy and advocacy focus was on three broad objectives. 
We also responded to the immense policy implications of the COVID-19 pandemic.

pandemic. We also continued our support 
as a member of the #fixfundraising 
coalition as it advocated for reform of 
the laws applying to the fundraising 
activities of charities and NFPs. We 
provided written feedback on the NSW 
Government’s Discussion Paper on a 
proposed cross-border recognition model 
for charitable fundraisers and written 
feedback to the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission on its 
proposed best practice guidance for 
financial report disclosures.

Governance Institute continues to engage 
positively with ASX in relation to the 
CHESS replacement project. We made 
a submission to ASX on its Consultation 
Paper to convey members’ concerns 
relating to project governance, timeline 
and costs.

Objective 3: To ensure 
the competence and 
professionalism of Australian 
governance and risk 
professionals
Our program of thought leadership 
continued in 2020 on a range of topics — 
most notably on climate risk disclosure, 
governance during the pandemic and 
virtual AGMs. These initiatives were 
promoted in a variety of ways including 
newsletter articles, social media posts, 
webcasts, roundtables and podcasts.

Nine Good Governance Guides were 
revised or released in collaboration 
with our four policy committees and 
their working groups. The policy team 
continues to assist members with 
technical queries, and several documents 

were added to the Donated Member 
Documents service.

We launched a revised version of our 
aged care governance publication Adding 
value to governance in aged care to 
support our members working in the 
sector as well as our ongoing education 
and professional development initiatives. 
We also made a submission on Counsel 
Assisting’s Recommendations to the 
Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality 
and Safety.

We continued our work on updating 
the Governance Principles for boards 
of public sector entities to reflect the 
Hayne royal commission, climate risk and 
other major developments in the public 
sector as well as the 4th edition of the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations.

Leadership and influence

14 public policy  
submissions

9 Good Governance Guides 
were revised or released

6 thought leadership 
reports released

Our 4 policy committees 
met 39 times 
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As Governance Institute is a professional services organisation that develops and disseminates 
knowledge, its human capital is critical to its sustainability. The culture of the organisation is 
a balance between being an NFP organisation and member-focused while at the same time 
incorporating many of the features of a performance-oriented commercial business.

Workplace diversity by gender
Entire staff

Senior management

Staff gender balance and 
opportunity

Governance Institute’s employment 
philosophy is open and transparent. 
Positions are advertised publicly and 
internal employees are encouraged 
to apply. Being a small organisation, 
sometimes we recruit outside people, but 
if possible we promote internally.

There is strong female representation 
among staff at senior management levels 
and further into the organisation.

Staff turnover

Governance Institute is a small organisation and staff levels fluctuate from year to year. 
This has provided the opportunity to engage new staff with the attributes required to deliver 
our strategic goals and progress projects without compromising our customer service. 
During 2020, staff turnover was significantly less than previous years at 20 per cent with 
ten employees retiring, resigning or being made redundant due to a realignment of our core 
business offerings because of COVID-19. Our lower turnover is reflected in our 2020 Staff 
Engagement Survey results as we experienced marked increases in our staff engagement, 
wellbeing and belief in our organisational progress compared to 2019. For example, 83 
per cent of staff said they have a high level of job satisfaction and commitment to our 
organisation, with staff scoring their belief in our Values, Vision and Respect of one another 
above 90 per cent in each category. 

Workplace diversity by age

30–39

40–49

>50

<30

2018

Employees

67%

33%

76%

24%

2018

2019

2020 12% 28%30% 30%

14% 22%29% 35%

21% 15%23% 41%

We use externally sourced salary surveys and recruitment organisations to benchmark the remuneration of roles within 
the organisation. Salary increases may occur throughout the year when roles or responsibilities change, supported by 
an appropriate business case, or the Board approves an annual increase for all employees. A whole of organisation 
remuneration review will commence in 2021. We have enhanced our staff benefits this year inclusive of an Employee 
Assistance Program and a reward, recognition, and benefits platform. In 2021 we will launch our Salary Sacrificing and 
Employee Self Service Platforms.

Remuneration and other employee benefits

Board gender balance

There is a conscious effort to maintain 
female participation on state councils 
and on the Governance Institute Board. 
State councils maintain good gender 
balance with 49 per cent of members 
being female. At year end 33 per cent of 
state council chairs were female.

Staff training

Governance Institute’s expenditure on staff training (as a percentage of personnel costs) was 3.7% in 2020, down from 4.3 per 
cent in 2019 due to the impact of COVID-19. The company encourages all staff to undertake internal short course training in 
order to gain a greater understanding of governance and risk issues in general.

Additionally, new staff continue to receive training in our customer relationship management and IT system platforms.

2019
25%

75%

Employees

2018
30%

70%

2018

2019

2020 3.7%

4.3%

3.9%
2.2%

2020
25%

75%
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Principal activities, objectives and strategies 
The principal activities of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
(Governance Institute) during the year were to champion whole-
of-organisation governance and risk management through 
education, advocacy and engagement with members and the 
broader community.  

There was no significant change in the nature of the activities 
during the year and the operations are in accordance with the 
constitution. The company’s financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for- 
profits Commission Regulation 2013 and Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

To meet its long-term objectives, the company will strive to see 
that:  

• The organisation’s governance arrangements remain fit for 
purpose and align with contemporary best practice through 
the continued focus on an independent review of the 
Institute’s governance arrangements. 

• Australia’s governance frameworks lead the world in 
facilitating a strong economy underpinned by responsible 
performance and organisational culture.  

• Current members and aspiring company secretaries, 
governance professionals, risk managers and directors are 
provided with the best education, resource support and 
career support to enhance their professional standing.  

• The organisation is strategically focused on being innovative; 
encouraging positive engagement with, and influencing, 
all stakeholders; and fostering a culture and values that 
ensures it is sustainable.  

• Governance practitioners are provided with a trusted 
community from which they can draw education, provide 
input, and access a knowledge sharing network of support, 
appropriate for their changing needs and circumstances 
throughout their chosen governance careers.  

The company’s short-term objective is to continue to focus on 
member engagement, innovation and lifting our profile for the 
next 12 to 18 months to maintain member retention at 91 per 
cent or better. 

To meet its short-term objectives, the company will continue to:  

• provide services, resources, and training to members  

• create and implement member engagement strategies that 
are more targeted and aim to increase our relevance and 
profile  

• strengthen our advocacy activities to influence decision 
makers and support responsible performance using good 
governance practices  

Your Directors present this report on the company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020. 

• better align our product offering to meet the career stages 
and interests of our members. 

Financial results  
Governance Institute is endorsed as exempt from income tax. 

An operating surplus of $818,679 was reported for the year and 
included $1,388,900 of federal and state government subsidies, 
including JobKeeper. Excluding these subsidies, an underlying 
loss of $570,221 was reported from ordinary activities.

Accumulated Members’ Funds at year-end totalled $5,850,263. 

Dividends
Governance Institute does not pay dividends.   

Review and result of operations
Company performance was assessed by the Board of Directors 
at their 11 scheduled Board meetings held during the year. 
The number of Board meetings in 2020 was significantly above 
usual levels and reflected the urgency and attention devoted by 
Directors working closely with management on monitoring and 
responding to impacts of COVID-19.

Forecast reviews are presented and discussed as to the 
progress between budget and actual results achieved. The Risk, 
Audit and Finance Committee also reviews the budget and the 
results of operations prior to recommendations made to the 
Board of Directors for their consideration. 

Total revenue for the year amounting to $8,991,628 primarily 
came from member and subscriber fees 36.8 per cent; 
postgraduate courses 20.9 per cent; and short courses, 
Certificates, and publications 37.6 per cent.

Total expenditure for the year amounting to $9,561,848 was 
primarily from direct costs for short courses, Certificates, 
and publications 5.1 per cent; direct costs for postgraduate 
courses 5.3 per cent; payroll 59.4 per cent and governance and 
administration 21.5 per cent.

Likely developments 
Likely developments in the operations of Governance Institute 
and the expected results of those operations in future financial 
years are disclosed in the Chair and CEO’s report at pages 4–5 
and the integrated report from pages 6–27. 

Environmental regulations 
Governance Institute’s operations are not regulated by 
any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

Directors’ report

The number of Board meetings in 2020 
was significantly above usual levels and 

reflected the urgency and attention 
devoted by Directors working closely 

with management on monitoring and 
responding to impacts of COVID-19.

Events subsequent to balance date 
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 
the end of the financial year pertaining to the 2020 operations. 

Continuing members of the Board of Governance Institute at the 
date of this report are Garth Fountain-Smith FGIA, Andrew Leake 
FGIA, John Mazengarb FGIA, Rachel Rees FGIA, Christine Manuel 
FGIA, and Tim Timchur FGIA. 

Peter Turnbull FGIA and Warren Baillie FGIA retired as Directors at 
the end of 2020.

Auditor’s indemnification 
Governance Institute has not, during or since the end of the 
financial year, in respect of any person who is or has been an 
auditor of Governance Institute or a related body corporate, 
indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying 
against a liability incurred as an auditor, including costs and 
expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings, or paid 
or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring 
against a liability incurred as an auditor for the costs or 
expenses to defend legal proceedings. 

Directors’ interests and benefits
As Governance Institute is limited by guarantee, none of 
the Directors holds an interest but each, as a member of 
Governance Institute, is liable to the extent of their undertaking 
under Governance Institute’s constitution.

During or since the end of the financial year, Governance 
Institute has paid premiums to insure the Directors against 
liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending 
any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting 
in the capacity of Director of Governance Institute other 
than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to 
Governance Institute. Premiums were paid for each of the 
Directors listed on pages 8–9. The insurance contract entered 
by Governance Institute prohibits disclosure of the nature of the 
liabilities insured by the insurance contract and the amount of 
the premiums.

Governance Institute’s constitution allows for the inclusion of 
indemnities in favour of persons who are or have been a Director 
or officer of Governance Institute. To the extent permitted by 
law, Governance Institute indemnifies every person who is or 
has been a Director or officer against any liability to any person 
incurred while acting in that capacity in good faith. We also 
indemnify Directors and officers against costs and expenses 
incurred in successfully defending legal proceedings and 
ancillary matters. This indemnity operates to the extent that the 
loss or liability is not covered by a valid and current insurance 
policy. The Company has executed a deed of indemnity, with 
each of the Directors and senior officers of the Company. 

Payments to the Directors and to entities from which the 
Directors may benefit for services by the Directors or entities 
are disclosed in Notes 8 and 19 to the Financial Statements on 
pages 40 and 44.

No other Directors of Governance Institute, during or since the 
end of the financial year, received or have become entitled to 
receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate 
amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
Directors shown in the financial report or the fixed salary of 
a full-time employee of Governance Institute or of a related 
body corporate) by reason of a contract made by Governance 
Institute or of a related body corporate with one of the Directors 
or with a firm of which they are a member or with a company in 
which they have a substantial financial interest. 

Proceedings on behalf of the company
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of 
those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during 
the year. 

Attendance at Directors’ meetings 
During 2020 attendance by individual Directors at meetings they 
were entitled to attend, was as set out in the table below.

Board of 
Directors

Risk, Audit 
& Finance 
Committee

John Mazengarb 11 of 11 7 of 7

Andrew Leake 11 of 11 7 of 7

Christine Manuel 11 of 11 –

Rachel Rees 9 of 11 6 of 7

Warren Baillie 11 of 11 5 of 7

Tim Timchur 11 of 11 7 of 7

Peter Turnbull 11 of 11 –

Garth Fountain-Smith 11 of 11 –
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Company Secretary
Bill Pallister FGIA, FCG, FCPA, MAICD, FFINSIA, Assoc Comm (Curtin) — 
Chartered Secretary, was appointed Company Secretary of 
Governance Institute on 29 March 2019 and retired in June 
2020. 

Megan Motto FGIA, CEO Governance Institute also serves as 
company secretary. An independent company secretary was 
appointed on 22 February 2021.

Auditors’ independence declaration
The Auditors’ independence declaration is set out on page 50 
and forms part of the Directors’ report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020.

*Andrew Horne resigned following the May Board meeting. No 
Remuneration Committee meetings were held in  2018.

Liability of members on winding up
The liability of each member (and each person who has ceased 
to be a member in the preceding year) on winding up is limited 
to an amount not exceeding $100.  

Diversity of employees
In terms of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations reporting 
requirements, the respective proportion of men and women 
employees in the whole organisation, in senior executive 
positions and on the Board are as follows:

In whole of 
organisation

In senior executive 
positions

On the 
board

Men 24% 33% 75%

Women 76% 67% 25%

Corporate Governance Statement
Our Corporate Governance Statement is available on our 
website here.

Company details
The registered office and principal place of business of the 
company is:

Level 10, 5 Hunter Street

Sydney NSW 2000 Australia.

ABN 49 008 615 950

Directors’ signatures

Financial report
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 
31 December 2020

Note 2020 
$

2019 
$

Revenue 4(a)  8,991,628  10,237,025 

Other income 4(b)  1,388,900 -

Expenses

Depreciation expense 5(a)  (895,352)  (712,754)

Other expenses 5(b)  (8,666,497)  (9,186,425)

Surplus before income tax expense  818,679 337,846
Income tax expense  -  - 

Surplus after income tax  818,679 337,846

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

Total comprehensive surplus for the year attributable to members  818,679 337,846

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020

Note 2020 
$

2019 
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9  5,372,196 3,811,550

Trade and other receivables 10  238,913 56,677

Other assets 11  298,397 327,558

Total current assets  5,909,506 4,195,785

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12  3,005,761 3,023,747

Intangible assets 13  1,221,549 1,610,879

Right-of-use assets 14  1,428,937 1,867,025

Total non-current assets  5,656,247 6,501,651

Total assets  11,565,753 10,697,436

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15  540,857 476,285

Deferred revenue 16  3,078,951 2,875,269

Provisions 17(a)  485,986 352,944

Lease liabilities 18(b)  436,231 386,130

Total current liabilities   4,542,025 4,090,628

Non-current liabilities

Provisions  17(b)  48,208 19,849

Lease liabilities 18(b)  1,125,257 1,555,375

Total non-current liabilities  1,173,465 1,575,224

Total liabilities  5,715,490 5,665,852

Net assets  5,850,263 5,031,584

Members' funds

Reserves 6  763,033 763,033

Accumulated surplus 7  5,087,230 4,268,551

Total members' funds  5,850,263 5,031,584

On behalf of the board by resolution of 
the Directors, as signed above.

SYDNEY, 26 March 2021

Andrew Leake FGIA 
Chair

Garth Fountain-Smith FGIA 
Director

John Mazengarb FGIA 
Director

Rachel Rees FGIA  
Director

Christine Manuel FGIA 
Director

Tim Timchur FGIA  
Director

https://www.governanceinstitute.com.au/about-us/our-governance/annual-report/


Page 32 Governance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2020  |   Page 33

Financial reportFinancial report

Statement of changes in members’ funds for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 
$

2019 
$

Opening balance  5,031,584 4,693,738

Surplus for the year  818,679  337,846 

Total recognised surplus and expenses for the year attributable to the 
members  818,679  337,846 

Closing balance  5,850,263  5,031,584 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 
$

2019 
$

Cash flows from operating activities  

Subscriptions received  3,408,360  3,519,540 

Receipts from Federal Government Jobkeeper subsidy  1,105,608 -

Receipts from participants in courses and other activities  6,039,554  7,178,143 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,319,898)  (9,395,287)

Interest received  26,392  47,322 

Other income  2,694 -

Interest paid on lease liability  (98,768)  (111,762)

Net cash provided by operating activities 21(b)  2,163,942  1,237,956 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (182,153)  (18,987)

Payments for intangible assets  (41,125)  (53,083)

Net cash used in investing activities  (223,278)  (72,070)

Cash flow from financing activities

Payment of lease liabilities  (380,018) (293,716)

Net cash used in financing activities  (380,018) (293,716)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,560,646  872,170 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  3,811,550  2,939,380 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9  5,372,196  3,811,550 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020

1.   Corporate information 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (the “Company”) is an 
incorporated entity limited by guarantee and domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000. The Company is a 
not-for-profit entity.

In the event of the Company being wound up, the liability of 
each member, or each former member who ceased to be a 
member within a year of the Company being wound up, is limited 
to an amount not exceeding $100. As the Company is limited 
by guarantee, there is no reference in the statement of financial 
position to share capital or shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s principal activities in the course of the financial 
year were to champion whole-of-organisation governance and 
risk management through education, advocacy and engagement 
with members and the broader community.

2.   Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
which has been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards (AAS), including Australian Accounting 
Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission 
Regulation 2013. The financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) applicable 
for not-for-profit entities. 

A statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the Company 
applying the not-for-profit sector specific requirements 
contained in AIFRS.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 26 March 2021.

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historic costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except where stated, current 
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair 
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ 
from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected.

3.   Significant accounting policies 

(a) Financial instruments 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised initially on the date at which the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.     

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are 
transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expires.   

Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified according to their business model 
and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. Except 
for those receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component and are measured at the transaction price, all 
financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transactions costs (where applicable).

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments, are classified into the following four categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);

• Financial assets at amortised cost;

• Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI); and

• Equity Instruments at FVTOCI.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial 
recognition unless the Company changes its business model for 
managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting 
period following the change in the business model.
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All income and expenses relating to financial assets that 
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance 
income and finance expenses, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses.

Financial assets with contractual cash flows representing solely 
payments of principal and interest and held within a business 
model of ‘hold to collect’ contractual cash flows are accounted 
for at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at amortised costs comprise of cash at bank 
and trade and other receivables. There are no financial assets 
classified under the FVPTL, debt instruments at FVTOCI and 
equity instruments at FVTOCI categories.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Company’s financial liabilities include, trade and other 
payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where 
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are 
designated and effective as hedging instruments).

(b) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition 
for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and 
capitalised borrowing costs. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and 
equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other 
expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual 
value.  Significant components of individual assets are assessed 
and if a component has a useful life that is different from 
the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated 
separately.  Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment.  Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the 
Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  
Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset 
are:

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate

Building — strata entitlement 1.33%

Strata and leasehold improvements 20%

Computer systems, furniture and  
office equipment  10% – 33.33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(c) Intangible assets

(i) Website and customer relationship management system   
    development costs

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect 
of gaining new technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes.  

Development expenditure is capitalised only if development 
costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 
are probable, and the Company intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.  
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable 
to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalised 
borrowing costs. Other development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit 
or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they 
are available for use.  

The estimated useful lives for the current years are as follows:

Capitalised website development costs 5 years

Capitalised customer relationship management 
(CRM) system development

10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(iv) Capital expenditure up to the value of $2,000 per item for 

computer equipment will be expensed in the year of purchase.

(d) Income tax

Governance Institute of Australia Ltd is for income tax purposes 
endorsed as a charitable institution. Its income is therefore 
exempt from Income Tax under Subdivision 50-B of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(e) Leases  

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses 
whether:

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset — this 
may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be 
physically distinct or represent substantially all of the 
capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has 
a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not 
identified;

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the 
period of use; and

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The 
Company has this right when it has the decision- making 
rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what 
purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision 
about how and for what purpose the asset is used is 

predetermined, the Company has the right to direct the use 
of the asset if either:

 º the Company has the right to operate the asset; or

 º the Company designed the asset in a way that 
predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on 
or after 1 January 2019.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains 
a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their 
relative stand-alone prices.

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Company 
determined whether the arrangement was or contained a lease 
based on the assessment of whether:

• fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets; and

• the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. An 
arrangement conveyed the right to use the asset if one of 
the following was met:

 º the purchaser had the ability or right to operate the 
asset while obtaining or controlling more than an 
insignificant amount of the output;

 º the purchaser had the ability or right to control 
physical access to the asset while obtaining or 
controlling more than an insignificant amount of the 
output; or

 º facts and circumstances indicated that it was 
remote that other parties would take more than an 
insignificant amount of the output, and the price per 
unit was neither fixed per unit of output nor equal to 
the current market price per unit of output.

As a lessee

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date and plus any initial direct costs 
incurred.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the 
straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of 
property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of 
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, and the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date; and

• lease payments in an optional renewal period if the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless 
the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
The Company presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
separately in the statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for short-term leases of office equipment 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of 
low-value assets. The Company recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

(f) Goods and service tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST). Receivables and 
payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. Cash flows in the statement of cash flows 
are included on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities that are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is 
classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Payroll tax

During 2009, the Company became exempt from the payment of 
payroll tax in NSW under the provisions of Schedule 2 Division 4 
Clause 12(1)(c) of the Payroll Tax Act 2007 (NSW).

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments.

(i) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
statement of financial position date. Employee benefits 
expected to be settled within one year of the statement of 
financial position date have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Employee 
benefits expected to be settled more than one year from the 
statement of financial position date have been measured at 
the present value of future payments expected to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to statement of 
financial position date. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departure and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
to their net present value using an estimate of market yields at 
the statement of financial position date on professional markets 
investments.

(j) Revenue recognition

Revenue represents income earned from membership 
subscriptions and the provision of related services. Membership 
subscription revenue is recognised as and when received in 
relation to the current period. Revenue from the provision of 
other services is recognised upon the delivery of the service 
to Members/customers. Interest revenue is recognised on 
a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates 
applicable to the financial assets.  All revenue is stated net of 
the amount of GST.

(k) Impairment 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit 
losses (ECL) on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances for cash at bank 
balances as 12-month ECL as credit risk (i.e. the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward looking information.

12 month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is 
less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is 
the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk.  

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit 
losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
(i.e the difference between the cash flow due to the entity 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial 
assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. A financial 
asset is ‘credit impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial 
position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

(ii) Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying 
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment 
property, inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or cash generating units (CGU). 

The recoverable amount of an asset of CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is 
based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risk 
specific to the asset or CGU. 

Where the future economic benefits of an asset are not primarily 
dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows 
and where the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined 
as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are 
allocated to the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU on a 
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss and been recognised.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or 
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that 
outflow can be reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation at reporting date.

(m) Trusts

The Institute Trust and The Institute No 2 Trust were established 
in 1993 to accept gifts and bequests from members and others.

In terms of the will of Leonard Chant, following the death of 
the last life tenant, a one-fifth share of the estate had been 
left to the Company to set up a trust to pay scholarships 
tenable overseas for advancement of training in secretarial 
and administrative knowledge to immediate postgraduate 
candidates of the Company’s examination.

The terms of the original will were found to be impracticable and 
following approval of a cy pres scheme in the Supreme Court 
of New South Wales, on the 28 October 2011 before Bryson AJ, 
the purposes of the Trust were confirmed to be that: 

The Trustee (Governance Institute of Australia Ltd) holds, uses 
and applies the trust property to pay scholarships for entry: 

(a)     into the Trustee’s postgraduate courses dealing with                
         applied corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit  
         sector governance, and 

(b)     into any other postgraduate course dealing with applied   
         corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit sector     
         governance whether in Australia or overseas. 

The scholarships are available to any persons with tertiary 
qualifications including, but not limited to, graduates from 
any courses which contain a corporate governance, company 
administration or public sector management component, 
whether that course has been conducted by the Trustee or 
any other government accredited Australian tertiary education 
institution. 

The scholarships would be tenable at the Trustee, government 
accredited overseas institutions or any other government 
accredited Australian tertiary education institutions offering 
such courses, that the Trustee considers to be appropriate. 

The financial statements of trust funds are not consolidated 
with those of the Company because the Company does not have 
direct control over them, but are shown in Note 22.

(n) Comparative figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures 
have been adjusted to conform to the changes in presentation 
for the current year.
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(o) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 
is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost 
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of 
the year.

(p) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at 
reporting date for goods and services received by the Company 
during the reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid 
within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

(q) Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue represents revenue received in advance which 
is not entitled to be recognised in the current period.

(r) Subsidiary companies

During prior years, the Company registered three subsidiary 
companies with ASIC to reserve appropriate names for future 
activities. The companies are dormant and have not commenced 
trading.

In accordance with AASB 127 (Aus1.3), the directors have 
determined that the three subsidiary companies are immaterial, 
both individually and in aggregate, to the financial position, 
performance and cash flows of the Group and consolidated 
financial statements have not been prepared.

The Directors of the subsidiary companies are noted on pages 
8–9.

2020 
$

2019 
$

4. Revenue
a) Operating activities

    Member and subscriber fees  3,305,960  3,358,781 

    Postgraduate courses  1,879,684  2,159,530 

    Short courses and Certificate courses  2,540,542  2,848,399 

    PD events (GRMF, updates/seminars and workshops, national events)  822,045  1,493,400 

    Sponsorship  288,142  186,935 

    Interest  26,392  47,322 

    Other income  113,731  127,784 

    Publications, journal and merchandise  15,132  14,874 

Total operating revenue  8,991,628  10,237,025 

b) Other income

 Government and state subsidy*  1,388,900 - 
 
*Payment and credit received from ATO JobKeeper and cashflow boost and Western Australia state support     

2020 
$

2019 
$

5. Surplus from ordinary activities
Surplus from ordinary activities is stated before income tax expense has been determined, after 
charging:

a) Depreciation expense

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

    Building  16,865  16,865 

    Plant and equipment  183,275  75,551 

    Intangible assets  257,124  252,142 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  457,264  344,558 

    Depreciation — Right-of-use assets  438,088  368,196 

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  895,352 712,754

2020 
$

2019 
$

b) Other expenses

Personnel  5,242,522  5,014,766 

Superannuation contributions  440,321  435,553 

CGI, UK — capitation fee  92,325  116,506 

Rental expenses on operating leases  58,454  37,628 

Occupancy and state facilities  192,649  212,981 

    Audit  42,848  34,000 

    Other services  1,400  2,670 

Impairment loss — website  173,332  - 

Other expenses from ordinary activities  2,422,646  3,332,320 

Total other expenses  8,666,497  9,186,425 
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2020 
$

2019 
$

6. Reserves
Capital surplus reserve  745,933  745,933 

Works of art revaluation reserve  17,100  17,100 

 763,033  763,033 

2020 
$

2019 
$

7. Accumulated surplus
Accumulated surplus at beginning of the year  4,268,551  3,930,705 

Surplus for the year  818,679  337,846 

Accumulated surplus at the end of the year  5,087,230  4,268,551 

2020 
$

2019 
$

8. Key management personnel compensation 
Directors, other than those listed below, do not receive any income from the entity for their services 
as directors.

For presentations at postgraduate courses, short courses and certificates, exam moderation and 
authors fees.

Tim Timchur (see note 19(v) for Transactions with related parties)   600  2,400 

 600  2,400 

Other key management personnel compensation comprised:
Consists of five executive officers. FY2019 consisted of six executive officers.

Salary and bonuses  865,512  1,125,031 

Superannuation contribution  82,759  76,007 

Long service leave provision  61,939  48,830 

 1,010,210  1,249,868 

The CEO’s remuneration consists of:   

CEO salary and bonuses  315,898  302,245 

Superannuation contribution  25,000  24,038 

Long service leave provision  8,729  4,273 

 349,627  330,556 

Total compensation  1,359,837  1,580,424

2020 
$

2019 
$

12. Property, plant and equipment
Non-current

Building

Strata entitlement — at cost — Hunter Street, Sydney  3,100,000  3,100,000 

Leasehold improvements  571,070  571,070 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (844,698)  (827,834)

 2,826,372  2,843,236 

Computer system, furniture and office equipment at cost  1,862,525  1,680,371 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (1,705,236)  (1,521,960)

 157,289  158,411 

Works of art at valuation  22,100  22,100 

Total property, plant and equipment  3,005,761  3,023,747 

Valuation of strata entitlement

Strata entitlement at Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, Sydney: purchased on 12 October 2004 for initial cost of $3,100,000. The most recent 
valuation report dated 30 June 2020 was based on an inspection of the property on 15 June 2020, prepared by Bruce John, Certified 
Practising Valuer, Registered Valuer No 1131 and Senior Valuer of Chesterton International (NSW) Pty Limited and valued the strata 
entitlement at $7,750,000 (2018 was $6,450,000). On this basis the directors believe that there are no indicators of impairment of the asset 
carrying value as at 31 December 2020.   

The strata entitlement is encumbered by a registered first mortgage as detailed per Note 23(d). 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year.

2020 
$

2019 
$

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  -  832 

Cash at bank  2,660,230  1,232,608 

Cash on deposit  1,297,171  1,072,110 

Term deposits  1,414,795  1,506,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents  5,372,196  3,811,550 

2020 
$

2019 
$

10. Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade debtors  219,857  34,928 

Net GST receivable  19,056  21,749 

Total trade and other receivables  238,913  56,677 

There is no impairment or significant credit risk with any debtor balance.

2020 
$

2019 
$

11. Other assets
Current

Prepayments  258,609  275,021 

Prepaid CGI capitation fee  39,788  52,537 

 298,397  327,558 
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Property and 
leasehold 

improvements 
$

Computer systems, 
furniture and  

office equipment
$

 Works of art
$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2020 2,843,236 158,411 22,100 3,023,747 

Additions (net of disposals) - 182,153  -  182,153 

Depreciation expense (16,864) (183,275) - (200,139)

Carrying amount at  
31 December 2020 2,826,372 157,289 22,100 3,005,761 

Property and 
leasehold 

improvements 
$

Computer systems, 
furniture and  

office equipment
$

 Works of art
$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2019 2,860,101 214,975 22,100 3,097,176 

Additions (net of disposals)  -  18,987  -  18,987 

Depreciation expense (16,865) (75,551)  -  (92,416)

Carrying amount at  
31 December 2019 2,843,236 158,411 22,100 3,023,747 

2020 
$

2019 
$

13. Intangible assets
Website development costs  $     $    

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,092,631  1,085,495 

Acquisitions - developed during the year  -  7,136 

Less: accumulated amortisation and impairment loss  (1,092,631)  (855,624)

Balance at end of year  -  237,007 

Customer relationship management system   

Balance at beginning of year  1,883,433  1,883,433 

Acquisitions — developed during the year  45,947  - 

Less: accumulated amortisation  (748,956)  (555,508)

Balance at end of year 1,180,424 1,327,925

New Courses

Balance at beginning of year 45,947  - 

Acquisitions — course developed during the year  41,125  45,947 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation (45,947)  - 

Balance at end of year  41,125  45,947 

Total intangible assets  1,221,549  1,610,879 

Website development costs
The original website was launched during the first quarter of 2012, at which time the intangible asset was considered ready for use and 
has been fully amortised. A new website development commenced during 2017 and the intangible asset was progressively ready for use 
from 1 April 2018. The website has been impaired as there is no further expected economic benefits from its use or disposal. Impairment 
expense related to the asset is recognised in the statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Customer relationship management system
During 2015 year the company began development of a new customer relationship management system. The customer relationship 
management system was launched progressively during the last month of 2016, at which time the intangible asset was considered ready 
for use from 1 January 2017. Amortisation commenced from that time.

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangibles between the beginning and the end of the current financial year.

2020 
$

2019 
$

15. Trade and other payables
Current

Trade creditors and accruals  453,842  378,811 

Payroll and PAYG tax payable  48,252  55,294 

Fringe benefits tax payable  8,585  9,581 

Melbourne premises new lease abatement  30,178  32,599 

 540,857  476,285 

14. Right-of-use assets

On transition to AASB 16, the Company recognised an additional $2,235,221 of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. When 
measuring lease liabilities, the Company discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. 

Governance Institute leases its office premises and IT equipment. Information about the leases is presented below:

Office  
premises 

$

Office 
equipment

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2020  1,605,035  261,990 1,867,025 

Additions - - - 

Depreciation expenses for the year  (350,772)  (87,316)  (438,088)

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,254,263 174,674 1,428,937 

Balance at 1 January 2019  631,388  349,307 980,695 

Additions  1,254,526 - 1,254,526 

Depreciation expenses for the year  (280,879)  (87,317)  (368,196)

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,605,035 261,990 1,867,025 

2020 
$

2019 
$

16. Deferred revenue
Subscriptions and fees in advance  3,078,951  2,875,269 

Website  
development costs 

$

Customer relationship 
management system 

project
$

 New CGI 
course

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2020  237,007  1,327,925  45,947 1,610,879 

Additions (net of disposals) -  45,947  41,125 87,072 

Amortisation & impairment expense  (237,007)  (193,448)  (45,947) (476,402)

Carrying amount at  
31 December 2020 - 1,180,424 41,125 1,221,549 

Website  
development costs 

$

Customer relationship 
management system 

project
$

 Effective Director 
Course

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2019  293,670  1,516,268 - 1,809,938 

Additions (net of disposals)  7,136  -  45,947 53,083 

Amortisation expense  (63,799)  (188,343) -  (252,142)

Carrying amount at  
31 December 2019 237,007 1,327,925 45,947 1,610,879



Page 44 Governance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2020  |   Page 45

Financial reportFinancial report

*Average number of full-time equivalent employees  46.60  47.50 

2020 
$

2019 
$

18. Lease liabilities
(a) Maturity analysis  — contractual undiscovered cash flows

Less than one year  429,960  483,205 

One to five years  995,347  1,072,517 

More than five years  639,533  813,154 

Balance at 31 December 2020  2,064,840  2,368,876 

(b) Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020

Current  436,231  386,130 

Non-current  1,125,257  1,555,375 

Balance at 31 December 2020  1,561,488  1,941,505 

2020 
$

2019 
$

19. Related party and subsidiary company disclosures
Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless 
otherwise stated.

(i) The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI), United Kingdom: under the terms of an operating 
agreement with CGI, Governance Institute of Australia Ltd remits an administration fee based on 
the number of Australian Members and students registered with CGI as at 30 June each year to 
meet the expenses of the International Institute.     

 In order to restrict exposure to foreign currency fluctuations while meeting its obligation to CGI, 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd has opened an Australian bank account denominated 
in pounds sterling which is used to remit the administration fees to CGI.  As at balance date, 
an unrealised foreign exchange translation loss of $1,471 (2019  gain of $3,059) has not been 
included.      

 These payments amounted to:    92,325  116,506 

 92,325  116,506 
(ii) Three directors, as disclosed on pages 8-9, are also directors of Governance Institute of Australia 

Ltd dormant subsidiary companies.

(iii) Fountain-Smith Governance Lawyers, a company with which Garth Fountain-Smith (appointed 
director 31.1.16), has consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:

-  1,880 

(iv) Manuel Projects Pty Ltd, a company with which Christine Manuel (appointed director 1.1.17), has 
consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:

-  2,442 

(v) ActivePro Consulting Pty Ltd, a company with which Tim Timchur (appointed director 1.1.18), has 
consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:

-  3,000 

(vi) 365 Architechs Pty Ltd, a company with which Tim Timchur (appointed director 1.1.18), has 
provided consulting services and software licence fees

-  4,811 

2020 
$

2019 
$

17. Provisions
(a) Current

 Provision for employee short-term entitlements  400,768  249,328 

 Provision for long service leave  85,218  103,616 

 485,986  352,944 

(b) Non-current

Provision for long service leave  48,208  19,849 

 48,208  19,849 

2020 
$

2019 
$

22. Trust funds
Statement of financial position

Estate Late Leonard Chant  968,015  972,421 

The Institute Trusts  76,961  76,958 

 1,044,976  1,049,379 

Represented by

Current assets

Cash at bank and on deposit and trade and other receivables  1,044,976  1,049,379 

Other current assets  763  763 

Total current assets  1,045,739  1,050,142 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  1,582  3,704 

Total current liabilities  1,582  3,704 

Net trust funds  1,044,157  1,046,438 

2020 
$

2019 
$

21. Cash and cash equivalents flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash 

Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows.  
 

 Cash on hand  -  832 

 Cash at bank  2,660,230  1,232,608 

 Cash on deposit  1,297,171  1,072,110 

 Term deposits  1,414,795  1,506,000 

 5,372,196  3,811,550 

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with surplus from ordinary activities  
after income tax

Net surplus from ordinary activities after income tax  818,679  337,846 

Non-cash flows in surplus from ordinary activities

     Depreciation and amortisation 1,068,684  712,754 

(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (182,236)  (5,516)

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  29,161  (115,664)

Increase in trade and other payables  64,572  26,142 

Increase in deferred revenue  203,682  389,684 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  161,400  (107,290)

Net cash provided by operating activities  2,163,942  1,237,956 

20. Segment reporting
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd operates as a professional association providing education and promotion of the advancement of 
effective governance and administration of organisations in the private and public sectors, for members and applicants for membership 
and for the public.  These operations are in Australia and the revenue from operations is as disclosed per Note 4.  The Company is one 
reportable segment.
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2020 
$

2019 
$

23. Financial risk management
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9 as 
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

Financial assets at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents  5,372,196  3,811,550 

Trade and other receivables  238,913  56,677 

 5,611,109  3,868,227 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

 Trade and other payables  540,857  476,285 

Financial risk management objectives and policies   

The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables.The purpose of these financial instruments is to maintain financial prudence of the funds and to contribute any surplus earnings 
towards the Company’s operations.

2020 
$

2019 
$

Statement of comprehensive income

Income

 Interest — Bequest from Estate Late Leonard Chant  8,695  24,282 

 Interest — Other trust funds  3  - 

 8,698  24,282 

Expenditure

 Administration cost  (1,698)  (3,704)

 Bank fees and charges  (121)  (121)

Scholarships  (9,160)  (19,150)

Used trust funds  (2,281)  1,307 

Opening balance  1,046,438  1,045,131 

Trust funds balance at end of year  1,044,157  1,046,438 

Financial risk exposures and management   

The main risks that the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

(a) Net fair values
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate fair value. The 
aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the statement of financial position 
and in the notes to the financial statements.  There is no difference noted between fair values and carrying values of financial instruments.

(b) Interest rate risk   
The Company’s exposure to interest rates risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial assets and liabilities.   

The Company’s exposure to market interest rate primarily relates to its cash and cash equivalents.   

At statement of financial position date, the Company had the following financial assets exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk. 
 

2020 
$

2019 
$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,372,196 3,810,718 

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at the balance date. If the interest rates had 
moved, with other variables held constant, post-tax surplus would have been affected as follows:

Post-tax surplus 
higher/(lower)

2020 
$

2019 
$

+1% (100 basis points)  53,722  38,107 

–1% (100 basis points)  (53,722)  (38,107)

The movements in surplus are due to higher/lower interest income from cash balances.

(c) Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets  
is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the 
Financial Statements.   

The Company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered 
into by the Company.

(d) Financial facility
The Company has a $350,000 facility for the issue of bank guarantees which is secured by a registered first mortgage over the strata 
entitlement as detailed in Note 12.

(e) Price risk
The Company is not exposed to any material commodity price risk.   

(f) Foreign currency risk
The Company seeks to mitigate the effects of foreign currency exposure by purchasing pounds sterling (GBP) and holding them in an 
Australian bank account denominated in GBP until it pays its obligations to CGI UK.   

The following sensitivity analysis is based on foreign currency risk exposure in existence at balance date.

2020 
$

2019 
$

Cash balance of GBP at year end  40,747  40,747 

Post-tax surplus 
higher/(lower)

2020 
$

2019 
$

AUD/GBP+5%  2,037  2,037 

AUD/GBP-5%  (2,037)  (2,037)
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(g) Liquidity risk 
The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that liquidity risk arising from the Company’s financial 
liabilities is minimised so that it will meet its obligations to repay the financial liabilities as and when they fall due.   

To help reduce these risks, the Company has a liquidity policy in place which requires minimum average levels of cash and cash equivalents 
to be maintained.   

Trade and other financial liabilities mainly originate from financing of assets used in the Company’s ongoing operations. These are 
summarised in the table below and represent the Company’s total liquidity risk.

Year ended 31 December 2020 Less than 
1 year

$

1–5 years

$

Non-interest 
bearing

$

Total

$

Weighted 
average

%
Financial assets at amortised cost:

Cash and cash equivalents  5,372,196  -  -  5,372,196  1.27 

Trade and other receivables  -  -  238,913  238,913 
 5,372,196  -  238,913  5,611,109 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables  -  -  540,857  540,857 

 -  -  540,857  540,857 

Year ended 31 December 2019 Less than 
1 year

$

1–5 years

$

Non-interest 
bearing

$

Total

$

Weighted 
average

%
Financial assets at amortised cost:  
Cash and cash equivalents  3,811,550  -  -  3,811,550 1.70
Trade and other receivables  -  -  56,677  56,677 

 3,811,550  -  56,677  3,868,227 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables  -  -  476,285  476,285 

 -  -  476,285  476,285 

24. Impact of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted Governance Institute of Australia operations. Due to government restrictions during 2020 Governance 
Institute of Australia cancelled the majority of  face-to-face education, events and conferences and converted them to digital offering. The  
pandemic has significantly impacted global economies, resulting in workforce and travel restrictions, supply chain and production disruptions 
and reduced demand and spending across many sectors. In the opinion of the Directors, whilst the risks associated with COVID-19 have 
been largely mitigated, these risks and the required mitigating actions will continue to be vigilantly monitored and evaluated by management. 

25. Events subsequent to reporting date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years. 

26. Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

In the opinion of the Directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (‘the Company’):

(a)  the financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 31 to 48 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its performance, for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013; 
and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due  
and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Andrew Leake FGIA Rachel Rees FGIA

Director and President Director and Chair of Risk, Audit and Finance Committee

26 March 2021

Directors’ declaration
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under subdivision 

60-C section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-

profits Commission Act 2012 

To: the directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020 there have been:

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG David Sinclair
Partner

Sydney
26 March 2021

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member 
firm of the KPMG global organisation of 
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Limited, a private English company 
limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The 
KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under 
license by the independent member firms of the 
KPMG global organisation.

Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the members of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd

Report on the audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Report, of 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (the 
Company).

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance with 
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission (ACNC) Act 2012, 
including:  

i. giving a true and fair view of the 
Company’s financial position as at 31
December 2020, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the 
year ended on that date; and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards to and Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013.

The Financial Report comprises:

i. Statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020. 

ii. Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income Statement of 
changes in member funds, and Statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended.

iii. Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

iv. Directors’ Declaration

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
ACNC Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
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Other information

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Governance Institute of Australia Ltd.’s
annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The 
Directors are responsible for the Other Information. 

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was annual report

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The Directors are responsible for:

i. Preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the ACNC.

ii. Implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

iii. Assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objective is: 

i. to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii. to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this Financial Report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report (continued)

We also:

i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the Audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the registered Company’s internal control. 

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our Auditor’s Report to the related disclosures in the Financial Report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s Report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the registered Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors of the registered Company regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

                        

KPMG David Sinclair

Partner

Sydney

26 March 2021
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